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2 MEMORIALS OF OLD LEICESTERSHIRE

non-Romanised Celtic people reasserted themselves strongly
in places, and the Celtic name of Caer Lerion was either
revived or given to Ratze. When the Teutonic peoples
gradually spread over the county, and when the Heptarchy
was formed, Mercia, which included Leicestershire, was
the central kingdom. By this time Christianity had spread
among the people, and Leicester, with Lichfield, became a
bishopric; later, about the year 737, it was made into a
separate See. Where the Church of St. Margaret now rises
was the site of the first cathedral, and the bishop’s resi-
dence is said to have stood where the vicarage is now.
The portions of land, called in old deeds ¢ Bishop’s Fee”
and ‘“ Bishop’s Farm,” are thought to date back to this
foundation of the See; for in the next century, when the
Danes took possession of the town, the bishopric was
transferred to Dorchester in Oxfordshire, and after the
Conquest Leicestershire was included in the diocese of Lin-
coln till it was joined to Peterborough in the nineteenth
century. In Leicester it is probable that the churches of
St. Martin and St. Nicholas were founded during this
period of Anglo-Saxon Christianity, and were on the site
of Roman buildings. Although no pre-Conquest building
remains, St. Nicholas contains portions of pre-Conquest
work in the north wall of the nave and some small windows
fashioned partly of Roman bricks. At Birstall, in the
north wall of the chancel, is a Saxon window, with remains
of a wooden midwall slab with apertures cut in a design of
interlaced circles.

The conquering Romans had come from the south, and
made roads and established order—the Pax Romana—as
they went. The Teutons had spread along the Roman
roads, which would still be in perfect condition for them;
but the next conquerors, the ravaging Norsemen, arrived in
the peaceful valleys of Leicestershire by water in boats.

So far as we know, the Danes established themselves in
large numbers in the northern and eastern counties before
making incursions into Leicestershire.
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But from about A.D. 850 bands of invaders, finding the
most fertile tracts in the neighbourhood of the North Sea
already occupied by their countrymen, were forced to go
further inland in order to obtain a settlement. Some of
these bands accordingly followed the course of the Trent
to the spot where it joins the Soar, and they found the
fertile valleys of that river and the Wreake suitable to their
requirements.

They increased so rapidly that in 874 they drove the
Mercian king Burhed from his throne and conferred thc
kingdom upon Ceolwulf; three years later taking the towns
of Leicester, Derby, Nottingham, Stamford, and Lincoln out
of his hands and forming them into a confederation known
as the Five Boroughs or the Danelaw.

The town of Leicester then remained. uninterruptedly
under Danish rule for a period of forty years.

The Danes stamped their nationality to so great an
extent on this district that in Domesday Book the county
divisions, called Hundreds through nearly the whole of
England, are in Leicestershire and four other counties
only, designated by the Scandinavian word “ Wapen-
take.”

The shire was called Leicester after the du#/ or strong
place. Itis uncertain whether or not the u7% was among
those founded or renewed by Edward and Ethelfleda.

Of Ethelfleda, “ Lady of the Mercians,” and daughter of
King Alfred, it is told by the Anglo-Saxon Chronicle that
“ with the aid of God, in the early part of the year (918),
she got into her power peacefully the dur% at Leicester,
and subdued to herself the largest part of the Danish army
that owned allegiance thereto ”; but she died almost directly
afterwards, and Leicester was again in Danish hands during
Athelstane’s reign.

Matthew of Westminster states that Onlaf of Norway
and Edmund, Athelstane’s successor, encountered each
other at Legecesterian, probably Leicester, and decided
after a drawn battle that Onlaf should possess the land



4 MEMORIALS OF OLD LEICESTERSHIRE

north of Watling Street, and Edmund that on the south, the
survivor having the whole. Thus on Onlaf’s death in 941
all the five Danish boroughs came into Edmund’s possession.

The history of this period is obscure, as in one record
it is stated that Edmund is fighting against the Five
Boroughs in 942, and, in another, that Onlaf, coming down
to harass Mercia a year later, was besieged in Leicester
by Edmund, who proved victorious.

KZlfric, ealdorman of the Mercians, appears to have
encouraged a new invasion in 986, and Leicester fell by
turns into the hands of the contending parties, till in 1016
Canute became sole King of England.

The medizeval history of the shire was dominated by the
Norman nobles. Leicester itself was fortunate in having
as its masters a succession of powerful chiefs who were
able men of high character. When new officers, with
the title of Earls, were appointed to various divisions of
England, Leicester, in the reign of Edward the Confessor,
became the seat of an Earldom. Leofric, Earl of Coventry
and Leicester, with his wife, Lady Godiva, were at Leicester
Castle in 1051 for the purpose of witnessing the grant of
a charter for building and endowing the monastery at
Spalding. Their grandson, Edwin, was slain fighting
against William of Normandy, who had in 1068 captured
Leicester. Most of the ownership of the town was then
apportioned between the King, and Hugh de Grentemesnil,
whe was appointed governor of Leicester and sheriff of
the shire, in which he held sixty-seven manors.

Amongst the favours bestowed on Hugh were the
Honour or Barony of Hinckley and the Lord Stewardship
of England (which was at that time made hereditary), to be
held together.!

! Nichols gives that *the king richly married him to Adeliza, a great
inheritrix of a noble family, and at the solemnisation thereof bestowed on him
the honourable office of Lord High Steward of England.” On the other hand
Orderic observes that his wife was Adelaide, daughter of Ivo de Beaumont:
who was very handsome, and that Hugh had to return to Normandy in 1068,
in order, it is said, to prevent her getting into mischief !
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Amongst the Domesday tenants-in-chief were Robert de
Todeni, who built Belvoir Castle (to be succeeded in the
next century by de Albini); Geoffrey de “ Wirce,” said
by Orderic to surpass all the magnates of the realm and
nearly all his own kinsfolk in wealth and power; the
Count of Meulan; Robert Dispensator (to be succeeded
later by a Beauchamp, a Marmion, and a Tuchet) ; Geoffrey
de la Guerche, whose possessions came into the hands of
the de Mowbrays of Melton; Henry de Ferrers; Robert
de Busci, who next century had given place to a Basset of
Sapcote.

Hugh de Grentemesnil built a castle in Leicester?® in
the Norman fashion, and by means of his garrison imposed
the foreign yoke on the county.

There is considerable doubt as to whether or not
Leicester was destroyed when it passed into the hands of
the Conqueror. The record in Domesday of 322 houses,
6 churches, and 2 mills with only 64 burgesses seems to
point to a destruction of inhabitants having taken place.
Mr. J. H. Round, on the other hand, arrives at the con-
clusion that, ““as it happens, we can not only discredit the
suggested ‘destruction’ in the days of the Conqueror; we
can actually fix its date as the reign of Henry 1”2 (1101),
when Ivo de Grentemesnil, who had succeeded his father

! Other castles were built after the Conquest and in succeeding years. In
the reign of John there were standing in the county eleven fortified castles,
which were probably Leicester, Belvoir, Mountsorrel, Sauvy; Hinckley,
built by Hugh de Grentemesnil, where he also enclosed a park and caused a
parish church to be built ; Whitwick and Earl Shilton, founded by Robert
Earl of Leicester, probably le Bossu; Thorpe Arnold by Ernald de Bois;
Melton by Roger Mowbray ; Donington, built by Eustace, Baron of Haulton;
and Segrave; Sapcote may also have had a castle or only a moated
house. Burton is no doubt correct in writing : “ Most of these castles, during
the unquiet reigns of King Henry II., King John, and King Henry IIL, being
held by rebellious barons, were by command of the last king utterly de-
molished, and though some of them were afterwards rebuilt, yet at this
day (1622) there is not one remaining entire, and even most of them are
entirely defaced.” At the present time, besides those mentioned on other
pages, there remains the sites only of Earl Shilton, Groby, Hinckley, and
‘Whitwick.

2 Feudal England.
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Hugh as the King’s reeve and representative, took part in
the rebellion against the King and waged war against his
neighbours. Ivo has the evil reputation of being the first
person to introduce private warfare into England. He was
tried and condemned as a leading rebel.

After Ivo’s condemnation, Robert de Beaumont, Count of
Meulan, who had already great possessions in the county,
advanced him the means to take a pilgrimage in return for
the pledge of part of his Leicestershire fiefs, which he after-
wards refused to return.! Beaumont ‘‘is distinctly stated by
Orderic to have been created Earl of Leicester (‘ inde consul
in Anglia factus’). But of this the Lords Committee ¢ found
no evidence.” Nor does he appear to have been so styled,
though he possessed the fertius denarius, and though that
dignity devolved upon his son.’ 2

Henry of Huntingdon writes of Robert de Beaumont that
he was a man of great ability and importance, “in worldly
affairs the wisest man betwixt England and Jerusalem,”
and also relates that when urged on his death-bed to make
restitution of some of his unjustly acquired lands, Beaumont
answered that he would leave them to his sons, that they
might provide for his salvation !

Count Robert certainly built a Church of St. Mary de
Castro and founded for it a college of secular canons ; whether
it was finished by his son or rebuilt after the siege of 1173
is unknown, but the beautiful and rare Norman sedilia still
preserved to us are late work of that style. To him in all
probability is also due the splendid hall of the castle; it
was not attached to the mount or keep, and so would not
necessarily have been injured by the King’s command of
destruction in 1174. It is thought that to Count Robert’s
good government was due, among other useful works, the
original West Bridge.

! Ivo had a son, Hugh, who regained some of his father’s possessions,
including the Honour of Hinckley and the High Stewardship, which later
passed by inheritance to the Earls of Leicester, through the marriage of his
daughter Petronilla or Pernelle to Robert Blanchesmains.

2 Mr. J. H. Round in Dictionary of National Biography.
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The son and successor of the first Beaumont lord was
Robert le Bossu. He carried out his father’s dying sugges-
tion, and did much to encourage the growing movement of
Monasticism by various religious foundations, of which the
most notable were those in Leicestershire—the Cistercian
Monastery of Garendon, and the Abbey of St. Mary de
Pratis for Augustinian Canons outside the town of Leicester.
The Abbey, starting with Beaumont’s rich endowment,
became a powerful community, but now is possibly best
remembered as the last rvesting-place which the dying
Cardinal Wolsey sought, on his way as a prisoner to
London.!

The next Earl, Robert Blanchesmains, succeeded his
father in 1168, and was so ill advised as to join in the
feudal rising that championed the cause of Prince Henry
against Henry II., who sent Richard de Lucy with an army
against Leicester. The town was taken, and burnt in July
1173. It was not till a year later that the Earl's besieged
castellan of the castle, Anquetil de Mallory, broke out and
ravaged the country, and Henry ordered the confiscation
of his castles of Leicester, Groby, and Mountsorrel. The
two first-named were destroyed; but though the imprisoned
Earl was set at liberty, it was not till 1177 that he had his
honours and castles (except Mountsorrel) returned to him.
He was then completely reinstated in kingly favour, and
after his death abroad on his way home from a pilgrimage,
Richard I. invested his son Robert Fitz-Parnel with the

1 Of the actual Abbey there is now nothing to be traced, though the site
is marked by the remains of the Cavendish mansion ; the boundary, however,
in Abbey Lane is doubtless part of Abbot Penny’s (1496-1508) “bricke
walles” recorded by Leland.

Amongst other monastic foundations of the twelfth century were Croxton
of the Premonstratensian Order, Osvelston, Bredon, and Launde, all of the
Black Canons of St. Augustine, Langley Nunnery, and the Commanderies
of Old Dalby and Rothley of the Knights Templars. Also the Leper Hos-
pital of Burton Lazars, the chief of all the lazar houses in England, and
subject only to the great house at Jerusalem. It was built by a general
collection throughout England, the principal contributor being Roger de
Mowbray of Melton. A spring of repute was the cause of the foundation at
Burton, which so late as the eighteenth century, when the mania for mineral
waters was at a great height, was utilised as a bath and drinking-well.
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Earldom of Leicester. This Fitz-Parnel, with his royal
master, took a distinguished part in foreign wars, without
doubt greatly to the impoverishment of his estates. It was
the heraldic coat of Fitz-Parnel Earl of Leicester (gules, a
cinquefoil ezmine) that became the arms of Leicester town.
By the time John came to reign, the town had recovered
its population and received more than one royal charter
at the hands of the ‘ Chartermonger” King, and during the
same reign Leicester was the scene of a meeting of the
barons, the first open expression of their hostility to their
sovereign, which afterwards culminated in the defiance at
Runnymede. John, who was a great wanderer, is not known
to have stayed in the town, but is recorded as sleeping at
Bosworth, Mountsorrel, and Melton, among other places.
Early in the thirteenth century (1204) Robert Fitz-
Parnel died abroad, childless, when the great inheritance
of the last Beaumont passed to his sister Amicia’s son,
Simon de Montfort. Although recognised by John as Ear]
of Leicester, he had to pay the penalty of having entered on
his French inheritance by losing his English estates, which
John confiscated in 1207, and only yielded the honour of
Leicester into the hands of Ralf, Earl of Chester, nephew
of Simon, in 1215, for ‘‘the benefit of the said Simon,”
to gain reconciliation with the Pope. De Montfort had by
this time practically become master of southern France
by his skill in the Crusade against the Albigenses, and
was therefore high in the Pope’s favour. He was killed at
Toulouse 1218, and was never in England. It remained
for his third son Simon to regain his English patrimony.
Having displeased the Queen of France about 1229, he
accepted his elder brother’s suggestion to give up to him
his share of the continental inheritance in exchange for a
problematical success in England. ¢ Hereupon,” he says
himself, “I went to England and besought my lord the
King that he would restore my father’s heritage unto me.”?

! Bibl. Nat. Clairembault, 1188, fol. 80 ; quoted in Simon de Montfort,
Charles Bémont.
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But it was not till 1230, after some efforts, that “the
King received my homage and gave me back my lands.”
Amongst the causes in his favour not the least seem to
have been the kindness and generosity of the Earl of
Chester (who was ready to give back to Simon his estates
that Henry had given meanwhile to Chester), and doubtless
also Simon’s own gallant bearing, that was to captivate later
on no less a personage than the King’s sister Alianor
(widow of the Earl of Pembroke), who became his wife.
It was not till after a renunciation from his brother in 1239
that Simon became undisputed Earl of Leicester.! In the
meantime the heirs of Amicia’s younger sister had obtained
a large share of the Leicester property, and what remained
to him Simon declared had suffered so much destruction
of wood and other great damages done by divers people
to whom the King had given it in charge, ‘“that it was
inadequate to support the dignity of an Earl” Some relief
was granted by Henry IIl in 1232 by means of a licence
to keep in Simon’s own hands any escheats of land held by
Normans of his fee in England.

A prince among administrators, a strong man marvel-
lously versatile, great alike in war and peace, great in faith
and love of justice, his government of the town and of his
estates was without doubt wise and good, for he earned the
sobriquet of “Simon the Righteous.””? In private life he
was noted for his simplicity, piety, and culture; three
of his friends and counsellors were Walter de Cantelupe,

! Simon had styled himself Earl of Leicester since 1231, and had claimed
at the King's marriage in 1236 to fulfil his hereditary functions of High
Steward.

2 In spite of prohibitions from Pope and King, Simon was worshipped asa
saint for many years by the vulgar. A liturgy was composed in his honour,
and worship was offered to him. A portion of one of the hymns has come
down to us. It begins :—

¢ Simon de Montfort, hail, all hail !
Hail knighthood’s flower and grace,
Who, suffering, entered death’s dark vale,
Protector of the English race.”

He had been the especial friend of those powerless to protect themselves.
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Bishop of Worcester, the great and just administrator;
Robert Grossetete, the famous Bishop of Lincoln, who at
one time held the living of St. Margaret’s, in Leicester;
and Adam de Marisco, a learned Franciscan, whom, with
Grossetete, Roger Bacon repeatedly describes as * perfect
in all wisdom,” and ‘‘the greatest clerks in the world.”
Grossetete and Earl Simon both favoured the Franciscans,
and to the latter was due the encouragement of settlements
of the Friars that did much in the thirteenth century to
raise the standard of life and religion.}

The public career of Simon de Montfort belongs to the
history of England.

After his death on the battlefield at Evesham (1265)
his title and estates were forfeit to the King, whose son,
Edward 1., afterwards (1274) granted them to his brother,
Edmund Plantagenet, who already was Earl of Lancaster,
under which title Leicester then became merged, and its
castle became an occasional place of residence of a great
Prince. The first Lancastrian ruler is remembered by the
town for his ordering the hall of his castle as the place for
the newly-appointed itinerant Judges to hold their Court of
Justice. It was no doubt also owing to his influence that
Leicester obtained the * Great Charter’’ in 1278.

Thomas, the second Plantagenet Earl, who succeeded
his father in 1299, was a noble of high importance but
with small personal connection with his Leicestershire pro-
perty. During his tenure there were several royal visits
to Leicester, not the least imposing of which must have
been the great assembly of barons (1318) before which
the Earl, at the head of 18,000 men, met Edward II. and
his Queen and two Cardinal Legates with their retinue at
“Syroches Bridge,” which now, says Henry of Knighton,
is called “ Cotes Brige” (probably Cotes on the banks of the

! De Montfort founded in Leicester the Friary of the Dominicans at
St. Clement’s, Le Black Freears in le Askes, as there were at that time ash-
trees growing on the spot ; and the Franciscans or Grey Friars had a priory
on the south side of St. Martin’s Church.
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Soar near Prestwold), where salutations were exchanged
between them in apparently the most cordial manner.
During the King’s visit a great assembly was held at
Leicester.

The following years were onerous ones in the county,
when the Earl was calling on the services of his men-at-
arms in his struggles with the King, so that it cannot have
been an unmixed disaster when the end was put in 1322
to Thomas's life! His brother Henry, distinguished by the
sobriquet of de Zorto Collo—Wry-neck—put up a cross
outside the town of Leicester on behalf of Thomas's soul.
He was restored to the Earldom of Leicester and High
Stewardship of England in 1324, but it was not till 1330
that he obtained the reversal of his brother’s attainder
and was confirmed in all the great possessions of Robert
de Ferrers and Simon de Montfort that had been granted to
his father. Henry of Lancaster, who was a man of high
character and sound judgment, was made guardian of the
young King, Edward III., but found himself with no power,
owing to the conduct of the Queen-dowager and her
favourite Mortimer. This put him in opposition to the
King, and caused the Royal army to enter Leicester, 1329,
and lay waste the surrounding country.

By the time of the reversal of Earl Thomas's attainder,
Earl Henry's blindness forced him to retire from active life,
and he decided to live in his castle of Leicester, which he
enlarged and improved the better to befit the great state he
kept up and the princely entertainments he dispensed.

Outside the castle he built and endowed the Trinity
or Bede House Hospital,> and a church dedicated to the

1 It is curious that Earl Thomas was the second Earl of Leicester who
became a popular saint. Many miracles were reported as wrought at the
tomb of St. Thomas of Lancaster.

2 Trinity Hospital was altered in the time of George III. and demolished
altogether in the latter end of the nineteenth century, which period was
responsible for much destruction in Leicester. The chapel with some of its
fittings was spared.

The beautiful Collegiate Church of Our Lady perished at the Reformation,
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Annunciation of the Blessed Virgin Mary, both within
fortified walls called the New Worke. The ‘“Magazine"
gateway of the Newarke now remaining is possibly of fifty
years’ later date, and belongs to the additions carried out
by John of Gaunt.

In 1345 Earl Henry died, and was buried by the high
altar of the church of his Hospital. He was succeeded
by his son, who became a still greater personage than his
father and known in Leicester as the “good Duke.”

A gallant and distinguished soldier and statesman,
“ Henry of Lancaster” was esteemed throughout Europe
as a perfect knight; he was brave, courteous, charitable,
just, and at once magnificent and personally temperate in
his habits. He bad a thorough knowledge of public affairs,
was a wise counsellor, and was loved and trusted by
Edward IIl. beyond any other of his lords. Like his
father, Earl Henry, he was religious, and during his last
days is said to have been much given to prayer and good
works, and to have written a book of devotions called
Mercy Gramercy.t

The dukedom of Lancaster was conferred on him in
135%, four years after he had been made one of the
original Knights of the Order of the Garter.

To the Church of Our Lady in the Newarke he added
a college with a Dean and Canons, ‘“Collegium novi-operis,”
and here he was buried by the side of the altar, with great
ceremony, in the presence of the King and his Court, having
survived the endless battles in which he took part to suc-
cumb to the plague that devastated England in 1361.

The death of the ‘good Duke” must have entailed
for some little time the dispersion of the great household
and an untenanted castle. The Leicestershire property
passed to his elder daughter, called Maud or Matilda,
the Duchess of Zealand, who came over to England to
claim her estates, and fell a victim, like her father, to the

Y Dictionary of National Biography.
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pestilence. Thus the whole inheritance fell to the younger
daughter, Blanche, wife of John of Gaunt, who was already
rising into power, that by right of his wife was destined to
be so largely augmented. He became Earl of Lancaster,
Derby, Lincoln, and Leicester, and High Steward of Eng-
land. In November 1362 he was created Duke of Lan-
caster, and invested with the Duchy by his father, the
King, who girded him with a sword and set on his head
a cap of fur with a circlet of gold and pearls. During the
next few years John of Gaunt remained in England, and
both he and his wife visited their domains.

He was, however, absent in Picardy when Blanche died
of the plague, seven years after it had carried off her sister;
and all England mourned at the same time for the deaths of
the two noble women—Queen Philippa and the Duchess of
Lancaster. Chaucer, in the “Book of the Duchess,” has
celebrated John of Gaunt’s love story and the graces of
his wife :—

* When that thou toke my lady swete ?
That was so fayr, so fresh, so free,

So good, that men may wel (y)-see
Of al goodnesse she had no mete ! ”

Blanche presumably died at Leicester, and (like her hus-
band in years to come) was buried in St. Paul’s Cathedral,
whither their bodies were severally taken by regal pro-
gresses, with ceremonial services at the halting-places.
She left an only son, destined to reign as Henry IV,

John of Gaunt continued to make occasional stays
at Leicester, and at the castle was signed, on the 3rd of
February 1398, his famous will. Exactly a year later, in
the same place, he died, worn out and broken down.! His

! ¢ De gravi languore moritur.”—ZEulog. 381.

If the Duke had died at Ely House, Holborn, as some of the chronicles
state, it would not have been necessary for his body to pass through St.
Albans on the way to Fleet Street.

The true tradition has been preserved by Higden (viii. 506) and Otter-
bourne (197).—C. F. Froissart, K. de L., xvi. 137-141 ; Sidney Armitage-
Smith, jokn of Gaunt.

As there has been some doubt if John of Gaunt did die at Leicester, I
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body, at his expressed wish, was taken to the church of
his favourite Order, the Carmelites in Fleet Street, before
interment at St. Paul's: ‘“juxte ma treschere jadys com-
paigne Blanch illeog’s enterre.”

As administrator of his estates, the Duke of Lancaster
was probably a just overlord. He was kind and charitable
to the poor, and would appear to have been popular amongst
his own people what time he was not always so in other
parts. It was owing to him that Wycliffe was brought into
the county and converted it to a centre of Lollardism. From
the living of Lutterworth for the last ten years of his life,
1374-84, John Wiycliffe ceased not to promulgate his ideas
by preaching, agitating, writing, and stirring up others to
crusade in like manner.

It was a strange alliance, that of Lancaster and Wycliffe.
They were practically only agreed on one point—the humilia-
tion of the prelates. The reason for this alliance is well
summed up as follows: ‘Lancaster, feudal to the core, re-
sented the official arrogance of the prelates and the large
share which they drew to themselves of the temporal power.
Wycliffe dreamt of restoring, by apostolical poverty, its
long-lost apostolical purity to the clergy. From points so
opposite and with aims so contradictory were they united to
reduce the wealth and humble the pride of the English
hierarchy.”? On Wycliffe’s part he believed that in John

am indebted to Mr. Armitage-Smith for the following further note of
additional evidence :—

“The Duke was at Leicester Castle on
24 Oct. 1398, see Rot. Pat., vi. 496

4 Nov. ,, ibid. 494

24 DCC. ”” ” EL) 569

28 Dec. ,, X 524
2 Jan. 1399 ,, 3 489 and 500,
4 Jan~ 1 1 " 569

23Jan. ,, % 478

It is probable that the Duke never left Leicester Castle after his arrival
there from Pomfret on 24 Oct. 1398 ; and it is practically certain that he could
not have left it after 23 Jan., z.e. eleven days before he died.”

1 Introduction to Fasciculi Zizaniorum Magistri jJ. Wyclife. W. W.
Shirley. Rolls Series.
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of Gaunt he had found a man who not only had the power,
but also the inclination, to reform the abuses of this time.

Two of Wycliffe's “ poor priests or scholars” that he
sent out as missionaries—Leicestershire men—Smith, a
layman, and Waytestaff, a priest, stirred crowds of listeners
by the Belgrave Gate at Leicester, within sight of the
Abbey, but they overreached themselves by their great
profanity, and were banished from the place.

More successful was William Swynderby, who lived in
the woods outside the town, whence he came to preach
vigorously against the abuses of the day in the churches
of St. Martin and St. Margaret. In the county he went to
various villages, so that after he recanted his doctrines on
being cited to appear before the Bishop at Lincoln, he had
to publicly disown them in the two churches above men-
tioned, and St. Mary of the Newarke in Leicester, and in
those of Melton, Hallaton, Harborough, and Loughborough.

After Wycliffe's death one of his great disciples was
John Purvey, who had been his colleague at Lutterworth,
and a co-translator of the Bible. This translation was the
most lasting product of Wycliffe’s life, and gives him just
claim to the title of ‘‘ Father of English Prose” ; for it is
owing to this work, which was largely done in the little
vicarage of Lutterworth, that his fame has come down
through the ages. Great as had been his influence, not
only in Leicestershire, but throughout England, and great
as was the zeal of his picturesque russet-clad preachers,?
it is doubtful if the movement influenced the Reformation
beyond the fact of facilitating the reading of the Bible,
Lollardry continued to grow for some years till vigorous
persecution set in, when, amongst other dark deeds, not the
least was the desecration of Wycliffe’s bones; they were
exhumed, burnt, and the ashes thrown into the stream
at Lutterworth. Woycliffe’'s most influential convert was
Queen Anne of Bohemia, who with Richard II. was

1 Their robes were most probably made of Leicestershire ‘* russet ” wool.



16 MEMORIALS OF OLD LEICESTERSHIRE

more than once in the county with Lord Beaumont at
Beaumanor.

The duchy of Lancaster having become merged in the
Crown, there is no further record of Leicester Castle serv-
ing as a continuous residence, after the early days of
Henry IV.’s reign, when the little Prince “ Hal”’ was there
as a child,

As a royal building of some size, not too near London,
it figures in the assembly of three notable Parliaments—
1414, 1426, and 1450—though the debates of the first in
order of date was actually held in the Hall of the Grey
Friars. This Parliament was remarkable for the legislation
against the Lollards; here, where their teaching was so pro-
minent, was their extermination decided on ; probably at that
juncture the decision was brought to a head owing to a
recent rising of the Lollards having taken place in London.
This Parliament too gave Henry V. the power to finally
suppress the alien priories.

The next assembly was summoned to meet in the
Castle Hall with a view of making peace between the
uncles of King Henry VI.; it was known as the “Par-
liament of Bats,” because the members came armed with
“bats’ or bludgeons in their hands, owing, it is said, to
their being forbidden to carry sharper weapons of offence.
During this session the little King and his Court were at
the Castle under the Regent John Duke of Bedford, and
with much ceremony Henry at five years old was formally
made a knight in the Church of St. Mary de Castro. As
the son of the able and popular Henry V., much no doubt
was then hoped from him in the future, but before the 1450
Parliament was held the gentle scholarly King had proved
his utter incapacity to rule, and all was confusion at the seat
of Government on the breaking out of Jack Cade’s rebellion.

At this period, when Leicester ceased to be the centre of
a powerful noble, began the rise of the Hastings family, who,
with their castles of Kirby Muxloe and Ashby-de-la-Zouch,
figure prominently in the history of the time. At the other
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end of the county the lords of Belvoir had kept on their
way ; later times were to see them still greater men.

Till the fifteenth century there had been no dominant
lord other than of Leicester ; important Barons there were—
Mowbray of Melton, Basset of Sapcote, and Segrave of
Segrave, also Zouche of Ashby, and Ferrers of Groby, whe
had come into the county by marriage with the descendants
of the Beaumont co-heiress ; but of castle or even fortified or
moated houses there were singularly few in Leicestershire,
and it is probable that the beginning of the Wars of the
Roses found the strongholds of Belvoir and Leicester alone
in repair. Hastings's two castles were built during the
struggle.

The county had during the years of peace been free to
develop its wool trade, and make the beginnings of its coal
industry of to-day.

The town of Leicester, in the Wars of the Roses,
forsook its Lancastrian allegiance, and its men fought
for the Yorkists at Towton under Sir William Hastings.
A contemporary ballad runs:—

¢ The wolf cam fro Worcester, ful sure he thought to byte;
The dragon cam fro Gloucester, he bent his tayle to smyte ;
The griffin cam fro Leycester, flying in as lyte (quickly);
The George cam fro Nottingham, wit spere for to fyte.”

Hastings was from the first a champion of Edward
of York, and his first reward was the grant of the manor
of Ashby-de-la-Zouch.

Another Leicestershire family, the Greys of Groby,
were destined to rise with meteoric splendour, along with
the Northamptonshire Widvilles of Grafton, owing to the
fascinations of one Elizabeth Widville, widow of Sir John
Grey, who had been killed fighting against the Yorkists at
the battle of St. Albans.

It was Edward IV.s marriage and the favours that
followed to his new relations that brought about his dis-
comfiture by the Earl of Warwick, the ‘ King-Maker,” in

1470. For some months Edward fled the country, and on
B
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his return in March 1471 he came to Leicester, where he
was met by the faithful Lord Hastings, who had collected
“ryght-a-fayre felawshipe of folks to the nomber of 3000
men, well habyled for the wars,” so that the King left the
town “ better accompanied than ke had been at any time
before " to fight the battle at Barnet.

Only for a few years was the country at peace, during
which Edward granted several municipal privileges to the
town. On his death in 1483, Richard the Protector speedily
made a pretext to seize and behead Lords Hastings
and Rivers and Richard Grey, brother to the Marquis of
Dorset. The Marquis escaped to Brittany and sided with
Henry of Richmond, where, like Hastings, he changed his
opinions and intrigued with the opposite party; but, more
fortunate than Hastings, Henry left him behind in cus-
tody out of harm’s way when he sailed for England, and
eventually restored him to all his honours.

When Richard III. knew that an invasion on the part
of the Earl of Richmond was imminent, he withdrew to
Nottingham Castle, thinking that it would be a good central
position should the invasion really take place. Thus it was
at Nottingham that the King heard the news that Richmond
had landed at Milford Haven and had already made his way
to Shrewsbury. The King set out at once, with as many
men as he could muster, for Leicester. He probably

arrived at Leicester on the evening of August 2oth (1845) '

and spent the night there. There is a curious legend relative
to Richard’s lodging on this particular occasion. The story
goes that instead of spending the night at the castle, he
slept at the ‘ White Boar’ Inn, afterwards called the
“ Blue Boar,” ! and that he hid in the false bottom of the
bedstead 75300, which was afterwards found in the time
of Elizabeth. The landlord, finding this treasure, became

! In James L’s days ‘‘ King Richard’s bedstead ”” was a reputed fact, but
there is no reason why he should not have slept in his castle, which was
certainly habitable, as he had occupied it recently.

The old bedstead from the * Blue Boar,” still preserved at Beaumanor
Park, is of Elizabethan design.
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rich, and after his death his widow was murdered on
account of her wealth. Although Richard’s place of lodg-
ing remains in doubt, the Rolls of Parliament confirm the
fact that on the day before St. Bartholomew’s Day the
King mustered his forces, and, wearing his crown upon his
head, marched out of Leicester with all pomp and splendour.
Another strange story connected with Richard at Leicester
is that when he was riding over the Bow Bridge! his spur
struck against one of the stones, and a ‘‘wise woman,”
seeing this, told him that where his spur had struck his
head should be broken. This prophecy was fulfilled, for
when Richard’s body was brought back to Leicester, the
head, hanging down on one side of the horse, struck against
the bridge. On the night of August 21st the King encamped
south of Market Bosworth, beside the village of Sutton
Cheyney. The battle took place the next day. Henry of
Richmond, under the skilful guidance of a Warwickshire
man, one John Hardwick, had marched from Atherstone
to Whitemoor, adjoining Redmoor, on the 21st. By this
position it was secured to Henry that when he advanced
to the battle next day he had a morass on his right flank,
and his forces were disposed so that they had the great
advantage of the sun behind them. Lord Stanley with his
men were apart, and his brother, Sir William Stanley, was,
with another independent force, probably at Nether Coton.

Richard without doubt was on Ambian Hill; he had the
larger force, but Henry is thought to have had the best
artillery.

The final issue rested with the Stanleys, who had all the
power of Lancashire, Cheshire, and North Wales at their
back. Lord Stanley was Henry's stepfather, but he dared
not take part in the battle till the victory was somewhat
assured, for he feared to risk the life of his son, Lord

1 This medizval bridge was destroyed in 1862, It carried the Fosse Way
over the Soar.

Close by it was a high single-arched footpath connecting parts of the
Augustinian Priory. This was probably the original Bow Bridge. It dis-
appeared some years earlier than the larger one.
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Strange, who was a hostage in Richard’s hands, and would
have been put to death had Stanley gone over to Henry too
soon.

It was after Lord Stanley had joined the Tudor forces
that Richard was informed that his rival was posted not far
off with but a slender guard. Tradition says he then took
a draught at the spring now called “ King Dickon’s Well”;
then calling for his battle-axe and his crown, he set spurs
to his horse, and with the splendid courage that distin-
guished him he first hurled himself at Brandon, the
standard-bearer, whom he killed, then unhorsing Sir John
Cheney, renowned for his size and great strength, he
succeeded in engaging Henry in personal combat just as
again the cry was raised of ““A Stanley! a Stanley!” as
Sir William, with his men in their red coats bearing his
cognisance of a hart’s head, swept down to cut off the
King’s retreat.

Richard was urged to fly, but it was too late; and whilst
shouting “Treason!” he fell, overpowered by numbers and
done to death with numerous wounds. His death was the
end of the battle, and the defeated Yorkists were pursued
by Richmond and Lord Stanley; from the human bones
and armour long afterwards picked up, it is conjectured
that they fled in the direction of Stoke Golding. When
the victory was complete, Henry first knelt down and
thanked God for his success, then addressing his soldiers he
was acclaimed with cries of “King Henry!” Lord Stanley
placed Richard’s battered crown on his stepson’s head amid
renewed acclamations of ‘“Long live King Henry !”?! and
after a Te Deum had been sung the first Tudor sovereign of
England set out to make a great entry into Leicester.

1 All this took place, no doubt, on Crown Hill, upon a nodule of volcanic
rock, now grassed over, and situated near some poplars, a little to the south of
Stoke Golding.

¢¢The crown had been snatched from the fallen Richard’s helm by one of
the many plunderers of his person, who had secreted it under a thorn-bush ;
it fell into the hands of Sir Reginald Bray, and he was thus at this opportune
time enabled to produce it.”— Zransactions of the Leicestershire Archaological
Society, vol. ii.

~——cryrT—aar -~
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It was necessary to prove to all men that King Richard
was veritably dead; search was made for his body, and
when it was found unseemly indignities were showered
upon it. Covered with blood and stripped naked, it was
borne back to Leicester, bound on the back of the horse
of one of Richard’s Pursuivants.

At Leicester the body was exposed for two days to
public view in the Newarke Church, and then buried
with little ceremony in Grey Friars, or, as Burton puts it,
‘“homely buried, where afterwards King Henry VII. (out
of a royal disposition) erected to him a faire alabaster
monument, with his picture cut out and made thereon.”

At the Dissolution of the monasteries tradition states
that Richard’s bones were carried through the streets of
Leicester by a mob and thrown under the end of the
Bow Bridge.

From the battle of Bosworth till the Civil War Leicester-
shire enjoyed peace within its borders. What great changes
took place were economic, and brought about mainly by the
Reformation and the Dissolution of the monasteries.

Shortly before this great upheaval in the religious
life of England, the death and burial of Cardinal Wolsey
took place in Leicester Abbey. The dying statesman
was on his way as a prisoner to London by order of
his ungrateful King, when he halted at St. Mary de Pratis
and said prophetically to the Abbot as they met, ‘‘ Father
Abbot, I am come to leave my bones among you;” and
again when he died, three days later, he uttered the
famous words, “If I had served my God as I have served
my king, He would not have deserted me in my grey
hairs.”

The lamentable history of the Dissolution is much the
same story in Leicestershire as elsewhere. First, the lesser
monastic houses, then the larger ones, and finally the
Colleges, Chantries, and Guilds were swept away in suc-
cession. What has been termed Cromwell’s “Reign of
Terror” set in; the buildings were stripped of anything
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movable that could be sold; the churches and tombs
desecrated ; plunder and waste everywhere.

But the parish churches were at this time spared,
to be dismantled in the iconoclastic Reformation under
Edward VI.

The last confiscation, which included the Guilds, no
doubt hit the people of Leicester hard, for they had several
rich communities; and there must have been general dis-
location when almost every school and what answered
to friendly societies, workhouses, and hospitals were all
swept away. )

No new foundation in the county was created out of
the revenues, though amongst the good intentions of Henry
VIII. that came to nought was a bishopric of Leicester; but
the neighbouring Abbot of Peterborough proved himself
more complacent about the surrender than did his brother
of St. Mary de Pratis, so that he got his reward and was
made the first Bishop of Peterborough.

Possibly the finest character amongst the Reformers
was a Leicestershire man, Hugh Latimer, born at Thur-
caston of yeoman parentage. When at Oxford at Corpus
Christi, the newly founded secular college of Bishop Foxe,
who had been Archdeacon of Leicester, he was a zealous
Papist, but from real conviction turned to the reformed
religion, and with his honesty and humour, his powerful
preaching pleaded its cause more effectively than all the
fanatical edicts. Latimer was burnt at the stake in Queen
Mary’s reign, three years after another Leicestershire victim,
Lady Jane Grey,® had paid the penalty of her relatives’
ambition.

The break up of the religious estates brought into
greater prominence many who became possessed of them
either by direct grant or favouritism, or by purchase from
those possessors of ill-gotten lands.

The three chief nobles took care to increase their landed

1 See ‘“ Greys of Bradgate,” gost.
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possessions ; they were the representatives of the Lan-
castrian Roos (now Manners), created by Henry VIII,, Earls
of Rutland, the Yorkist Hastings (now Earls of Hunting-
don), and Henry, second Marquis of Dorset, who at this time
got possession of Bradgate. The Beaumonts acquired Grace-
Dieu, and William Cavendish obtained Leicester Abbey
amongst other rewards. He was one of the husbands of
the celebrated ‘“ Bess of Hardwick,” and ancestor of the
Dukes of Devonshire and Portland, but the Abbey had soon
passed from his estates into the hands of another branch
of the Cavendishes, who made of it a residence.

The Hastings of Ashby-de-la-Zouch vied with the Lord
of Bradgate in chief importance. Free from royal ambitions,
they were able to live in all the state that a subject could
keep up; and after the Greys fell from their high position,
the Earls of Huntingdon and Rutland, at their opposing
ends of the shire, used their influence in the cause of law
and order in the Midlands through the reign of Elizabeth.

It is not recorded that that monarch paid one of her
costly visits to the county, though four times did the town
have the expense of futile preparations for her reception.
Mary Queen of the Scots was twice within its borders—at
Ashby under the care of the Earl of Huntingdon, and at
Leicester on both the journeys. The reign of Elizabeth
saw the increase of public soldiers that had begun to re-
place the retainers of older times; the town of Leicester
had its armoury; its soldiers were increased from ten to
twenty, and were trained with the county forces at Melton
as well as at home, In 1588 the Armada made a great stir;
some 12,000 males in the county responded to the summons
of the High Sheriff, Thomas Skeffington of Belgrave, to bear
arms ; 2000 were sent to Tilbury, and the remainder were
partially armed and allowed to return home pending the
landing of the Spaniards. Sir George Villiers?! of Brooksby

1 The Villiers had been settled at Brooksby since the reign of Henry III,
This Sir George was the father of the celebrated favourite, the Duke of
Buckingham, by his second wife, daughter of Anthony Beaumont of Glenfield,
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commanded the forty town soldiers that were the Tilbury
contingent.

The opening of the Civil War found the county held
almost wholly for the Parliament, with the exception of the
two castles of Belvoir and Ashby. Amongst the individual
Royalists who helped the King were William Earl of Devon
of the Abbey Mansion, Sir R. Halford of Wistow, Sir George
Villiers of Brooksby, Henry Berkeley, Henry Skipwith,
Woolstan Dixie, John Rolleston of Staunton, John Skeffing-
ton, Richard Roberts, Sir John Bale, William Foster of
Knighton, William Jones, and George Ashby.

For the Parliament were the Earl of Stamford, his son
Lord Grey, Lord Ruthin, Sir Arthur Hesilrige, Sir Edward
Hartopp, Archdale Palmer, Thomas Brudenell, Thomas
Beaumont, Thomas Babington, William Danvers, John St.
John.

In 1642 when the first Commissions of Array were
issued to put the counties in a state of defence on behalf
of the King, Leicester was the first county to receive the
proclamation which was the final provocation to the people
against him; presumably there were waverers, as it was
thought worth while for Charles himself to visit the town
and address the people.

It was in July 1642 he came from Nottingham with
Prince Charles and Prince Rupert, and was met by the
Mayor and Corporation and escorted to Lord Huntingdon’s
mansion. Next day Charles addressed the assembly at the
Assizes and received petitions from both town and county
couched in respectful language, but plainly showing their
disagreement with him. The following day, Sunday, he
attended in great ceremony a service in St. Martin’s, the

in Leicestershire. The Duke was born at Brooksby and sent to school * to
one Mr. Anthony Code, at Billesdon, where he also learned the grounds of
musick " ; at thirteen he went to live with his widowed mother at Goadby
Marwood, north of Melton ; later on he went to France and was not much
connected with the county again, except by his marriage with Lady Katherine
Manners, only daughter and heiress of the Earl of Rutland, though he used
his influence to obtain for Leicester the privileges of a staple town from
Charles I.
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official church of the town, which was specially got ready
for the occasion; and next day he departed, to return once
more for a night the following month on his way to War-
wickshire. There he found the gates of Coventry closed
against him, and returned to Leicester, not to the town,
but to the hospitality of the loyal Countess of Devon at
the Abbey.!

The next day Charles with Prince Rupert rode on to
Nottingham, and that afternoon raised his standard during
a storm of wind and rain that proved an ill omen for his
success in the war.

Before a month was out Prince Rupert had headed an
assault on Bradgate and established the headquarters of his
Royalist cavalry at Queniborough for a short time.

Bradgate was again plundered in the following year
(1643) to such an extent that Lord Stamford humbly en-
treated the House of Lords that “ some malignant’s house ”
that was ready furnished might be allotted unto him for his
family.?

Skirmishes and raids took place in different parts of
the county throughout the next two years, mainly led on
the one side by Hastings and the other by Lord Grey. It
was probably the desire to relieve the pressure on Oxford
that decided Charles to occupy Leicester, which was a centre
of disaffection. The Royal army came from Staffordshire
to Ashby on the 27th May 1645 ;3 on the 28th it rested at
Loughborough, and Charles slept at Cotes, the residence of
Sir Henry Skipwith ; the following day it reached Leicester,
and Prince Rupert utilised the ready-made earthworks of
Rawdykes as positions for his batteries.

King Charles took up his quarters at Aylestone? till

1 The exact dates of Charles’s movements were: Nottingham to Leicester,
August 18th ; to Coventry, 19th ; that night and probably the next at Stone-
leigh. Returned to Leicester Abbey, 21st ; and the following day, Monday,
22nd, to Nottingham.

2 J. Thompson, History of Leicester.

3 See *“ Henry Hastings,” post.

4 Mrs. Fielding Johnson, Glimpses of Ancient Leicester.
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after two days’ siege the town was taken, and he rode
through it on his way to the Abbey mansion, which after
his departure was unaccountably set on fire by the Royalist
soldiers. The town was extensively sacked and robbed by
the victorious troops apparently, as appears from a petition
to the House of Commons by some Londoners, who said
the storming of Leicester had made a deep impression on
them and ‘““the barbarous cruelties practised there.”* That
terrible licence and cruelty went on is without doubt true.
Cromwell’s troops were not wholly exempt from such charges
elsewhere, and here there seems to have been provocation to
the Royal army in the part taken by women.

At least a letter written by an officer in the King’s army
sets forth :—

¢“That the very women, to the honour of the Leicester ladies, if they like
it, officiously did their parts, and after the town was taken, and when if they
had been possessed of any discretion with their zeal, they would have kept
their houses and been quiet, they fired upon our men out of their windows
and from the tops of their houses and threw tiles upon their heads.” 2

In ignorance of Fairfax’s movements, who set out for
Leicester from Oxford, Charles’s plans were undecided.
The Royal army marched to Kibworth? the week following
after the taking of Leicester, then to Northamptonshire,
within the boundary of which county was fought the
disastrous battle of Naseby. Charles fled to Leicester, but,
hotly pursued, he had to go straight through, and reached
Ashby in safety. Cromwell had himself nearly reached
the town in the pursuit and, followed next day by Fairfax,
who had come on to Great Glen after the battle, prepared
to retake Leicester. Fortunately it was spared another

1 J. Thompson, History of Leicester. The details of the siege of Leicester
have been well dealt with by the local historians.

2 J. F. Hollings, Leicester during the Civil War.

3 When Charles left the Abbey on the 4th June he spent the night at
Wistow at Sir Richard Halford’s, where soon after on his flight from Naseby
he got a fresh horse, leaving his own ornate saddle and stirrups behind to
become treasured heirlooms.
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siege, owing to the weakness of its defences, and the terms
of surrender that were offered by Fairfax—honourable as
befitted the man whom Charles described as ““a man of
honour and keeps his word.”

Fairfax tarried but a few days in Leicester, nor did he
stay to take Ashby Castle; that and Belvoir both sur-
rendered to the Parliament early in the following year.

The great personages of the strife were still to traverse
the county—King Charles on his way as a prisoner to
Holdenby, Fairfax and his wife to be entertained by the
corporation at a banquet, and Cromwell on his way to
Scotland.

At the beginning of the Commonwealth, when the
Independents were intolerantly asserting their form of
religious persuasion, it was again the lot of the county to
take part in a new religious excitement when Quakerism
was preached by George Fox, son of a Leicestershire
weaver of Drayton by the Rutland border, where he
began proselytising, before he roused Lutterworth and the
neighbourhood in Leicestershire. Later on a conference
of Baptists and others at Broughton Astley gave him his
first opportunity of addressing a large assembly, which
brought him into notoriety. Again in Leicester, probably
at St. Martin’s, was the first occasion he was moved to
speak in a ‘steeple house,” as he called a church, where,
at a great disputation, in which Presbyterians, Indepen-
dents, Baptists and Churchmen all took part, Fox set the
congregation ‘“on fire,”” and the debate came to a stormy
conclusion, so that he retired to an inn to continue his
arguments with those that were willing. On a later
occasion, when he was preaching in the town, he was
taken up by the officer commanding and eventually sent
up in custody to Cromwell, who, more liberally minded than
his officers, let him go.

The mayor and aldermen of the town sent a most
humble address up to “his Highness " Richard Cromwell
on his father’s death, but notwithstanding that he failed
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altogether to prove what they expected, ‘‘ Another Joshua
with his spirit redoubled,” they still clung to the Crom-
wellian party, and would not join the county in a demand
for a free Parliament. In 1660 they were fain to enter-
tain General Monk at a banquet as he passed through the
county on his way to London with part of his army, when
he was met near Leicester by the two commissioners
from Parliament, the bells were rung and many people of
the neighbourhood assembled to greet him. The following
day the High Sheriff, George Faunt, and others followed
him to St. Albans to present an address in support of their
views, but the mayor wrote to Sir Arthur Heselrige to
acquaint him with their standing aloof from the sheriff’s
overtures.!

Heselrige, the Leicestershire Parliamentarian, had repre-
sented the town in three of the ineffective Commonwealth
Parliaments, but in the election that closely followed, in April
1660, the revulsion of feeling in favour of the Restoration
caused the name of Hesilrige to come out the lowest in
the poll. It was owing to Monk’s interposition that his
life was spared when retribution was dealt out after the
Restoration.

The Proclamation of Charles II. was everywhere re-
ceived with loud rejoicings, so great was the majority in his
favour.

From this time Leicester ceases to figure in the general
history of the county. The Civil War was the end of all
fortified dwellings; Leicester Castle had long been only
a semblance of itself; Ashby and Belvoir Castles were
partially destroyed; Kirby Muxloe abandoned; of Castle
Donington, Burton wrote that it had been “ quite ruinated ”
by the Earl of Huntingdon, when he bought it at the end of
the previous century, and “ built a fair house in the park.”
In some counties great building activity succeeded the
Restoration; in many cases to repair damages, in others

! J. Thompson, History of Leicester.
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men who had been abroad with Charles II. came back
imbued with French taste, and set to work to express it in
their houses. In Leicester itself it was round about the
year 1700 that much of the old town was rebuilt, when
brick clay was discovered close to the town. The building
periods that seem to have been most marked in the county
were the reign of Charles I. and the grievous era in
architectural taste of 1800, when Belvoir Castle, Castle
Donington, and Coleorton were built.

Jacobite feeling in Leicester ran high, and from the
abdication of James II. till the final act in 1745, the
intrigues were incessant in favour of the Pretender.

Much alarm and commotion was caused by the near
approach of Charles Edward and his army from the north,
and some of his adherents were heartily glad when they
found he had been turned back from Derby and were
spared putting their loyalty to an actual test.

From the Civil War downwards there has always been
a party in the county focused at Leicester, with a strong
bias against the powers that be. Jacobitism having come
to an end in 1782, the “Revolution Club” was founded
in memory of the reign of William of Orange, to unite
‘“‘the independent interest of the town and county of
Leicester . . . supporting and defending them against any
oppression or invasion they might suffer from the undue
exertions of misplaced power or the venal influence of
enemies to freedom.”

The consternation at the deeds of the French Revolu-
tion, ten years later, raised a storm all over the county in
denunciation of all reformers ; in the horror excited by the
excesses committed, such a course was a natural reaction.
The *“ Revolution Club” died a natural death, and even
the strongest Liberals made themselves into a ‘ Constitu-
tional Society.” All parties of town and county sunk their
differences in the mayor’s feast in 1792, and drank to the
toast of ‘“ May the British Constitution be never infected
with the French disease.”
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The arming of soldiers, owing to the alarm of invasion,
was common to other counties in the Napoleonic times,
and henceforth the distinctive history of the shire is entirely
industrial. '

The variety of interests in the county is great. From
the old castle of Ashbyin the north-west stretches the
beautiful district of Charnwood Forest to the flat river
plain where Leicester stands—a modern manufacturing
town on Roman and medizeval foundations. It may well
be taken as a typical illustration of the different stages in
the history of an English town from the earliest times to
the present day. South-east from Ashby, beyond the
murky coal villages, lie the pastures of Bosworth and the
manufacturing district of Hinckley and Earl Shilton, where
tall smoking chimneys betoken the exchange of agriculture
for manufactures. Farther south is the peaceful little town
of Lutterworth in rural surroundings, and from there, strik-
ing north-east through Market Harborough up to Melton
Mowbray and the Vale of Belvoir, to Lincolnshire, some of
the finest land of England is comprised, purely agricultural,
well farmed, with picturesque villages and fine churches
and houses; it is the land of the Pytchley, Cottesmore,
Quorn, and Belvoir Hounds—the land, above all others,
of fox-hunting, which in Leicestershire may almost be
termed an historic industry.

This sketch has sought to outline a few of the events
that agitated the shire, to mention some of the principal men
concerned in its history, and, if it may be, lead some of the
inhabitants of the present day to study more of the past of
their inheritance—‘ For what is man’s lifetime unless the
memory of past events is woven with those of earlier
times ?”
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impossible to attempt to reconstruct the prehistoric road-
map of this region.

In the south of England many old roads have been
described as “British track-ways,” and more might be
cited which as well deserve that name. These are by no
means alike in form, and we may distinguish three types
which appear to be older than the time of the Romans.

The most marked, which I would call the ¢ ridge-
way " type, is distinguished by following the ridges of hills,
winding considerably to avoid brooks or marshy ground,
and crossing rivers but seldom, and then only where the
hard ground comes close to the water on either side.
Along these roads are many tumuli, placed at conspicuous
places, especially where the road forks or two roads cross.
Earthworks of the “hill-top” variety and rectangular
camps are found beside them and innumerable traces of
prehistoric villages. Where they cross the virgin down
cattle tracks are plentiful, which are most clearly visible
when the road ascends a hill. The Ridge-way in Wilts
and Berks is perhaps the best-known example, and was
called by this name in the tenth century. It has been
described by Sir Richard Colt Hoare in his Ancient Wilts.

Another clearly-marked type, which I will call “hill-
side,” winds along the sides of hills just above the alluvium.
Marshes and low-lying ground are avoided, but small
streams do not offer so great an obstacle as in the case of
the ridge-roads. Mr. Hilaire Belloc in 7%e Old Road has
described such a way leading from Winchester to Canter-
bury, and the Icknield Way, which runs through Wantage
parallel to the Ridge-way, is another example.

Intermediate between these is a third, an example of
which is the Harrow-way, which runs across the north
of Hampshire. This keeps on high ground, though not
on the ridge, but does not hesitate to cross small brooks
if a saving of distance is gained thereby.

The great number of prehistoric remains found by the
side of roads of all these three types leaves little room for
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doubt that they were in use before the Roman period, and
the fact that roads of two, or even all three, types may be
found running parallel, sometimes scarcely a mile apart,
leads one to suppose that they originated at different times.
The ridge roads are presumably the oldest, for they are the
most circuitous and pass by the earliest settlements. The
tumuli by their sides belong, for the most part, to the early
part of the Bronze Age, though neolithic remains are found
also beside them. The ‘“ Harrow-way” type is probably
the next, and these, too, keep for the most part to the high
ground, showing that when first used the lowlands had not
been cleared and inhabited. The hill-side roads belong to
the latest stage, when people began to settle in the valleys,
and give up a pastoral life for agricultural pursuits.

As to the age of these roads it is difficult to speak with
certainty. The presence of many remains of the early part
of the Bronze Age beside the ridge roads shows them to
have been in use at that time, though they may have been
used for local purposes in neolithic days. The remains
found along the Harrow-way type have not been carefully
examined ; but these roads came into use, we may imagine,
some time during the later bronze period, while the number
of “Late Celtic” remains found along the hill-side roads
shows that they belong to the times immediately preceding
the Roman era.

But all the roads once made remained in use through
succeeding periods ; many, if not most, are in use to-day.
So it happens that Roman remains are found frequently
beside them all, which has caused antiquaries of the old
school to describe many of them as Roman roads. But
these roads were not made in the ordinary sense of the
term. Some engineering is visible in places along the hill-
side roads, but use alone made the roads, as is the case
with the trails of savages or our own footpaths.

Though these roads were, no doubt, traversed for many
purposes, itinerant traders must have used them most fre-

quently, and those which are most conspicuous must have
C
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been essentially trade routes. As they appear to date
from the beginning of the Bronze Age, we may feel sure
that implements of that metal formed part of the merchan-
dise carried along them, and it will be worth while to
consider the circumstances of this trade before dealing
specifically with those portions of the routes which traverse
Leicestershire.

The earliest bronze implements reached this country
from France about B.C. 1800, though this date must be
accepted with caution. The Gaulish traders seem then,
as later, to have carried their traffic by boat along their
rivers, and the earliest merchants probably approached this
island from the mouth of the Seine. Mr. Belloc has well
described how they would have approached St. Catherine’s
Head in the Isle of Wight, and when nearing the shore
they must have turned either to the east and landed near
Chichester, or to the west, when their best harbour would
have been near Christchurch—probably by St. Catherine’s
Hill, where remains of early earthworks still exist. If
they skirted the coast of Normandy as far as Cape La
Hague they would have made for Portland Bill, and then
landed either at Lulworth Cove or the head of the Chesil
beach below Abbotsbury, or perhaps even as far west as
Charmouth or Seaton.

From these ports they traded with the inhabitants of
the southern downs, who were their chief customers, and
some time elapsed before they advanced north of a line
represented by the Thames and the Bristol Avon. Both
of these rivers are bordered by alluvial lands, difficult to
cross, and the region around their sources must have
been marshy and covered with scrub, so that a road by
the watershed would have been impracticable. When at
length the traders sought markets to the north, they
preferred to cross the rivers where the hard ground de-
scended on either side to the water’s edge, and selected
fords respectively at Streatley and Bath.

To the former ran the Ridge-way already mentioned
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and other tracks from some of the southern ports, and
the trade route thus opened out led to East Anglia and
the high ground east of the fens. Roads from Seaton,
Abbotsbury, and Christchurch converged to Bath, making
a great detour to avoid the Glastonbury swamp, and pro-
ceeded along the Cotswolds in the direction of Stow-on-
the-Wold. Near here the road divides, one branch con-
tinuing to the north-west Midlands, while the other, with
which we are more immediately concerned, turned eastward
and followed the boundary between the counties of Warwick
and Oxford to Edgehill, after which its course becomes less
distinct.

The road is now entering a thickly-wooded region, for
in early days Leicestershire and much of the land adjoin-
ing it was one vast forest. From the fens on the east
the woodlands of Rutland and the Forest of Rockingham
must have stretched across the county till they reached
Needwood Forest on the west, while Sherwood to the
north-east must have run continuously to Arden on the
south-west. The north-western quarter of the county was
not disafforested till 1812, and still goes by the name of
Charnwood Forest, which, during the Middle Ages, reached
to the very walls of the town of Leicester. Wohile the
neolithic men of the south tended their flocks and herds
on the downs, their contemporaries in Leicestershire must
have been still in the hunting stage, and few of their
implements have survived but axes, which date probably
from the period when bronze was becoming well known
in the southern counties.

Such a population would not readily invite the trader
in bronze implements, for they could have had little to ex-
change for his wares, and what we may term the middle
Bronze Age must have been well advanced before he
brought his merchandise to them. With but one exception,
the bronze articles found in the county cannot be con-
sidered older than this period, and the vast majority seem
to be later.
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The route of these traders north of Edgehill can only
be traced in outline and with considerable uncertainty.
That it followed the watershed of the Avon seems pro-
bable, and then passed north-west to Husband’s Bosworth,
where it entered the county at the watershed of the Avon
and the Welland. Here a hoard of implements belonging
to the late Bronze Age was discovered more than a
century ago, but nothing has so far been found dating
from the earlier part of the period.

The course of the road through Leicestershire seems
to have been by Bosworth Lodge, Mowsley, and Sadding-
ton to Kibworth Harcourt, where a tumulus of the Roman
period marks its course, then on by Carlton Grange and
the Gartree bush, between Illston and Noseley, where a
flint celt and some Bronze Age pottery have been found,
between Frisby and Rolleston, to the north of Skeffington,
where a bronze spear-head was found, and so to Tilton.

Here a tumulus, near the windmill, seems to show
where several ways converged. Various earthworks in
the immediate neighbourhood indicate that the place was
formerly of more importance than at present, while the
Roman coins that have been found there prove that it was
still occupied at that period.

A road to the east here leads past Tilton station, where
there is a rectangular camp, to the south of Withcote near
Sanvey Castle, past a tumulus and on north of Swintley
House, through Manton and Edith Weston in the direction
of Stamford. The main line passes Owston Grange, where
remains of cinerary urns were found long ago, through
Somerby and Pickwell past Jericho Lodge till it crosses
the Eye at Stapleford. Thence it passed between Freeby
and Saxby, where some Roman remains have been found
near Stonesby Lodge, through Saltby, where several tumuli
mark its course, and past Hungerton Hall till it crossed
the Witham a little north of Ponton. Its course hence was
northward, and parallel to the Ermine Street to Lincoln.
There seems also to be a third branch, less clearly
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indicated, through Waltham-on-the-Wolds, Eastwell, and
Belvoir, where some ¢ Late Celtic "’ pottery was discovered ;
it goes by Bottesford and Long Bennington towards some
point near Newark.

Since the trade with the inhabitants of Leicestershire
must have been so scanty, it is worth while considering
what brought merchants into these parts at this time. As
the routes seem to point to ports on rivers running to the
east coast, an over-sea traffic seems implied.

That there was a constant communication with Den-
mark or Holland about this time seems likely, for the
race of broad-headed men—formerly called Bronze Age
men—who are now believed to have first landed at the
close of the neolithic period, are thought to have come
from those parts, for there alone in Europe has a similar
race been found. Their line of approach would most
likely have been by various ports on the coast of East
Anglia, which would have brought them to Salisbury
Plain by the Streatley route ; but some probably entered
the Wash, sailed up the rivers that run into it, and so
passed to the south by the route we have been tracing.

The chief reason for ports so far north was that
the inhabitants of Denmark and the surrounding regions
were in want of gold, and in due course their pros-
pectors found that the Eldorado of the time was
Ireland. How they first reached there is uncertain ; but
we know that Irish gold reached Denmark, and it has
been suggested that all the precious metal found at this
time in Scandinavia came from the western isle. Traders
from Denmark to Ireland would wish to avoid a long and
dangerous sea journey around these isles, yet would be
anxious to make the land crossing as short as possible.
The ports around the Wash would for this purpose be
the most suitable landing-places, and we are fortunately
able to trace their land route across the county.

Coming from Lincoln and Stamford, or ports near those
places, by the roads we have already traced as far as
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Tilton, they wished to avoid crossing the Soar where
the river was not fordable. The lowest point which
would serve their purpose seems to have been just below
Leicester, where the Abbey stood in later days, and where
the river was divided into two or more channels, and this
was the point they aimed at.

Leaving Tilton, the track seems to make for Billesdon
Coplow, passing just to the north of the old camp on the
hill above, and then across Palace Hill to the Leicester
and Uppingham road. It kept rather to the south of the
highway till it reached Houghton-on-the-Hill, then followed
the general direction of the footpath from that village to
Bushby. The road through Bushby and Thurnby seems
to be on the old line, which crossed the stream where the
footbridge now is and continued on up the hill towards
Evington Hall. From this point, I am inclined to think,
alternative tracks led to two fords on the river. One
passed over the Spinney Hills and through the park, where
arrow-heads have been found, and so through the Midland
station to Granby Street, and then by Church Gate to St.
Margaret’s pasture; while the other ran into the Green
Lane, and making straight for the lower end of Wharf
Street, where a hammer-head has been dug up, passed by
Sydney Street and across the upper part of the Abbey
meadow, where a stone celt and a bronze dagger were
discovered a few years ago. It crossed the river near
the Abbey, where an upright stone, known formerly as
St. John's Stone, seems to have marked the passage.

Both trails evidently converged on to the Anstey Lane
and followed this to the village where the river was crossed
by a ford just where the old mediseval pack-horse bridge
now stands. Passing through the village of Anstey one
may still see traces of the old road to the south of the
highway as one ascends the hill on the way to Newtown
Linford. But the old way soon diverged from the modern
road, passed by Anstey High Leys and through Chaplin’s
Rough, to the north of Old Wood and Lawn Wood, joining

e
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the Markfield and Newtown Lane by Heyday Hays. It
followed along the line of this lane to the turnpike road,
and by the latter to the cross-roads beyond the village.
Here stood formerly an old upright stone, known as the
Altar Stone, which seems to have been another mark on
the way. Here our road leaves the highway and turns
for a short distance along the lane to Copt Oak, but it soon
leaves this and bearing to the left passes along the lane by
‘White Hill and makes straight for Bardon Hill.

Before reaching the Hill it bears round still farther to
the left past the Rice Rocks and joins the Ashby turnpike
near the lodge of Bardon Hall; then continues along the
road through Coalville, past Snibston and Sinope, to Ashby-
de-la-Zouch. Whether it entered the town or kept to the
north of it seems uncertain, but soon it joined the Burton
road and followed the line of the present highway till it
reached the Trent.

That it crossed the river at or near Burton seems pro-
bable, and its further course is somewhat uncertain, but it
appears to have gone on towards Chester.

From Stamford this is a fairly direct route towards the
western ports on the Dee and Mersey, from which Ireland
could best be reached; but from Lincoln a very considerable
detour has been made to avoid crossing the Trent and the
Soar. Various attempts seem to have been made to cut a
corner,one of which left our former route at Billesdon Coplow,
and ran past Ingarsby station to Keyham, and thence along
the footpath to Barkby Thorpe, and so on to the junction
of the Fosse Way and the Melton road, where a tumulus
formerly stood. From thence it seems to have gone to the
Wreak at Syston Mill, near which a bronze dagger was
found in the clay, and on through Cossington to cross the
Soar at Sileby Mill. It passed by Mountsorrel, where
various early remains have been found, and so on to Wood-
house Church.

But soon a better way was found, both shorter and
traversing firmer ground. This branched off from the other
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road near Saltby, and crossed Croxton Park on its way to
the White Lodge north of Goadby Marwood. North of
Scalford it met the road coming from Bottesford and Bel-
voir, which we have described before, and then continued
along the present road to Six Hills, where it crossed the
Fosse Way, and so to Barrow-on-Soar. Here stood, in all
probability, the tumulus which gave its name to the village,
to mark the crossing of the river. Whether this was by a
ford or a ferry in a dug-out canoe is uncertain, but that it
was where the present bridge now stands seems likely.
The track passed to the north of Quorn Hall, nearly on the
line of the present road, then ran direct to Quorn station
and thence almost straight to Woodhouse Church, where it
met the road from Mountsorrel.

The present road to the south of Beaumanor Park seems
on the line of our track, which passed to the south of Beacon
Hill, where a hoard of bronze implements has been found,
and so past Bawdon Castle, known formerly as Cateirn Hill,
to the north of Birch Hill and Bardon quarries, where a
spear-head and palstave have been found, and so to join the
great road to the west.

Various cross-roads, connecting those just described or
cutting off corners, seem to have crossed the Wreak at
Melton Mowbray, Kirby Bellars, and near Brooksby, but
their course and object is uncertain. It is also possible
that a road continued from Bardon Hill through Huggles-
cote and Donnington Heath in the direction of Cole Orton.
Again there are faint indications of another route from
Husband's Bosworth through Gilmorton, Broughton Astley,
Stoney Stanton, Elmsthorpe, Sutton Cheney, Market Bos-
worth and Shakerstone, to join the road to the west. But
more investigations must be made before the exact routes
can be made out.

As we approach the late Bronze Age, the period noted
for socketed celts, we find a change in the general direction
of trade. The distribution of socketed implements shows
us that the centre of the industry was in the basin of the
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Rhine, and the traders travelled in all probability down
that river on their way to these islands. It seems likely
that then, as later, they did not cross the sea direct, but
skirted the shore of Belgium until they arrived near Calais,
when they crossed to the Kentish ports. This seems to
have been the chief trade route between Britain and the
Continent during the latter part of the Bronze Age, though
there are reasons for believing that an independent traffic
was carried on between the south-western counties by the
Channel Isles to Brittany, and so through western France
to the cities of north-east Spain.

Irish gold found its way also across the Channel to
north-east France, and the route through this island must
have passed near Leicestershire, though we can only trace
it in outline. Leaving the Kentish ports, the road must
have crossed the Thames, probably at Brentford, and
passed north into Hertfordshire, and thence north-west
to Husband’s Bosworth. Here it left the other road and
turned to the west. There seem for a while to be alter-
native routes, one going through Kimcote, Lutterworth,
and Willey to Wolvey Heath in Warwickshire, while the
other led through Gilmorton, Ullesthorpe, and Wibtoft to
the same place. Thence the road seems to have continued
towards Chester.

But as bronze axes became more generally used, the
people were enabled to clear the low lands of the scrub
which had made it impassable. The process took place
gradually, we may feel sure; but before the close of the
Bronze Age many agricultural villages must have arisen in
the valleys of the south-eastern counties. About B.C. 450
there arrived another people, who brought the knowledge
of iron to our shores. That they were the first to use
wheeled vehicles seems likely, inasmuch as, while horse
trappings and harness have never yet been discovered
associated with undoubted Bronze Age remains, they are
not infrequently found among discoveries of the ‘Late
Celtic” period. The translation of the villages from the



42 MEMORIALS OF OLD LEICESTERSHIRE

hill-tops to the valleys, accompanied by the introduction
of wheeled traffic, necessitated a new style of road, and
it is to this epoch that I would relegate the ‘hill-side ”
roads.

The Irish gold trade still continued to flourish, and
much of the precious metal seems to have found its way
to the Swiss lake villages. The route followed was on
the same broad lines as that just traced, but somewhat
shortened by cutting off corners. In a few places only has
it been traced accurately, but we can fill in the links with
a fair approach to accuracy.

The Thames seems to have been crossed near London,
and the road went by Hampstead to St. Albans, which was
now becoming an important centre. Thence it ran north-
west, as shown on the map, till it entered the county near
Shawell. From here for a while its course is uncertain,
but it probably passed through Warwickshire on its way
to Highcross, then continued through Burbage and Hinck-
ley, Wykin, Atterton, and Ratcliffe Culey, Grendon, Poles-
worth, and Glascote to Tamworth. Thence its course may
be traced past Coton and Packington to Wall, after which
we need describe it no further.

The road from Bath seems also to have been straightened
and modernised, but we will be content to trace its course
from near Stow-on-the-Wold. From Upper Swell it comes,
as shown on the map, to Shawell, where the tumulus pro-
bably marks the crossing of this and the other road. Hence
we may trace its course through Melbourne and Walcote
and by the west of Kimcote to Gilmorton, where it divides.
One branch, probably the earlier, goes by Peatling Magna
and Foston to East Wigston, and thence is easily traced by
the west of Great Stretton to Houghton-on-the-Hill. Its
further course seems to be by Ingarsby, Hungerton, and
Twyford to the camp at Burrow. From this point it
would seem the old roads already traced continued to be
used, for there are no clear evidences of the later type.

The other branch from Gilmorton passed between
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Ashby Magna and Peatling Parva to Willoughby Water-
less, where a ‘‘ Late Celtic” urn has been found, then to
the east of Blaby, through Aylestone Park into Leicester.
Its course northwards seems to have coincided very nearly
with the Fosse road, which was its Roman successor, and
there are no traces of the earlier way through Leicester-
shire, though it may be noticed passing through East
Bridgeford and Kneeton in the Trent valley.

Various small connecting links may be noticed, but the
only one of any importance is that running from Crick
through Yelvertoft, Claycoton, and Stanford-on-Avon to
Melbourne Lodge, thus forming a connection between
Leicester and London.

One more road was used in the Iron Age which had
no predecessor in the Bronze Age. Whether it was that
the Thames presented difficulties to the traders, now
travelling with waggons, or whether the merchants de-
sired to shorten their land route at the expense of a
lengthened sea voyage, one cannot decide. But for some
such reason the trading vessels from north-eastern France
sometimes put in at ports in Essex, and made their way
direct from there to the north-west, keeping, however,
south of the fens to Great Easton.

Fragments of harness of the ‘“Late Celtic” style
found here show that the road passed this way towards
Hallaton, where an uninscribed gold coin and some
Roman pottery have been found. Various earthworks
near here show this to have been an important place both
before and after the Romans came. The road continued to
the south of Goadby, where many remains have been found,
which are supposed to be Roman, but may be earlier; then
on through Noseley, where celts and pottery have been
found, past Illston-on-the-Hill and to the south of King’s
Norton, then through Stoughton and Evington to Leicester.

Its course through the town cannot be traced, but it
probably left by a ford just below the west bridge, where
it divided. One branch kept straight on through New
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Found Pool and Glenfield till it met the Ashby turnpike
opposite Bradgate House. It followed the high-road as
far as Coalville, when it continued west along the Bronze
Age track already traced. The other followed roughly
the present Hinckley road nearly as far as Cross Lanes,
then went past Forest House, Alder Hall, Broomhills, and
Kirby Mallory Hall and north of Upton Park to Atterton,
where it joined the other route to Chester.

Such were the principal roads that the Romans found
in existence when they arrived, and before they had been
long in the county they had straightened the road from
London towards Chester, which is now known as the
Watling Street, and forms the south-west boundary of
the county. The greater part, if not all, of the road from
Bath to Lincoln was also straightened, and is now so well
known as the Fosse that its course requires no further
description. The last road from Colchester to Chester
was straightened as far as Leicester, and its course is
quite clear till it comes to Rockingham Forest. This
portion seems to have been traceable a century ago, but
now most of the evidence has disappeared. Through this
county, however, the old Gartree road shows the course of
the Roman road as far as Stoughton Park, whence it con-
tinued straight to the town and down the New Walk into
the Roman city. A continuation through Ashby has always
been postulated, but no clear evidence of its existence
has been obtained. It seems more likely that the old
road sufficed for those who wanted a direct route, but
that most travellers followed the now straightened road
through Kirby Mallory, which joined the Watling Street
at Mancetter. This course to Chester would, perhaps,
be a few miles longer, but the country through which it
would pass would be more level and less wild than that
along the older but more direct route.

Such in brief outline is the prehistoric road-map of
Leicestershire, somewhat shadowy as yet in places, but
a skeleton which may be improved and corrected by







PREHISTORIC LEICESTERSHIRE

By A. R. HORwOOD

PART I

district, we are obliged to turn to the evidence of com-

parative archaeology and philology as well as history,
and to the relics of that period which has been aptly termed
“the meeting-place of geology and history.” Turning to the
great geological period of the Ice Age, in England we see
that during this epoch of change huge blocks of granite,
Carboniferous limestone, and Millstone grit, or of Coal-
measure sandstone, Permian, Jurassic, and Cretaceous rocks
and fossils were torn up, dragged along, rendered smooth
and polished or striated, and carried forward southwards
for long distances. These were finally laid down in a fresh
district, distributed evenly over the country, north of a line
drawn from near Bristol across England to the Wash.
South of this deposits of boulder clay diminish; but in
East Anglia assume great variety, testifying to alternations
of periods of submergence and elevation.

The surface of Leicestershire is covered with a thick
mantle of boulder clay then formed, and boulders are scat-
tered all over the county, some of great size and weight.
Fine examples are exhibited in the grounds of Leicester
Museum.

If we glance for a moment at the physical structure or
conformation of Leicestershire in its latest or recent state,
before civilisation had advanced towards the erection of

early earthworks or camps of refuge, before buildings of
46
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any description had been constructed, and long before per-
manent roads were carried across the country, we find little
or nothing to indicate the manner of dwelling or the nature
of the communities formed by the earliest peoples.

Taking a bird’s-eye view of the district covered by the
present county, we find it consists of more or less lowland
country traversed centrally by the river Soar (the ancient
Leir), a tributary of the Trent. West of this line is the
Trent, bounding the county on the N.W.,, the river Anker
dividing it from Warwickshire on the S.W., with its tribu-
tary, the Sence, flowing from the N.E. To the E. is
the river Wreake, and the Eye flowing into the Soar to
the N.E., with small tributaries also flowing westwards,
whilst in the S.E. the Welland and the Avon bound the
county during part of their course, and the latter sends
forth tributaries to the N.W.

On either side of the central valley of the river Soar
extend wide plains to the E. of Lias clay, and to the W. of
Red marl and Coal-measures. The western area is only
diversified by higher ground to the N.W. and the miniature
mountain range of Charnwood Forest, the summit of whose
highest point, Bardon Hill (912 feet), affords a fine prospect
in every direction.

This hilly country (once hidden in a sea of moor and
forest varied with mountain crags, from which many of the
boulders spread around the country southwards were de-
rived by ice agency) we may well picture to ourselves as
affording excellent natural fastnesses for the early types of
man that inhabited this part of England before the valleys
excavated by the glaciers were filled with their now thick
alluvial deposit.

From Bardon we can indeed imagine that—as in the
case of Beacon Hill—the early nomads may have signalled
to their kin at Barr Beacon, some forty miles distant, and
visible from Bardon on a clear day. Covered with thick
forests and frequented by the larger animals of the
chase, some now extinct or now only kept in a state of
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semi-protection, e.g. the red-deer, this submerged moun-
tain range would have afforded an ideal point of vantage to
tribes liable to be raided by their neighbours of Sherwood
or of the adjoining Forest of Arden.!

Evidence of Druidical worship—to whatever period of
the early history of the British or Celtic tribes, Stone,
Bronze, or Iron Age we' may refer it—is afforded by
the traditions connected with such natural monuments as
the Hanging Stone—another form of the word ¢ Stone-
henge”—near the Oaks Church, and the rocks called
the Hanging Stones at Beaumanor—natural monoliths of
Charnwood Forest rocks—as well as others at Whitwick
and at Bawdon Castle. The ‘ Altar Stones” at Markfield,
and possibly some megaliths at Beacon Hill, may too have
had a like significance.

No true Druidic, or so-called Druidic, cromlechs, stone-
circles, or cairns occur in the county. The monoliths, such
as stone pillars and long pillars (menhirs), are all natural
rocks untouched by man, but doubtless used, in prehistoric
and perhaps later in Romano-British or even post-Roman
times in some places, for rites and ceremonies or for flashing
beacon-lights from one point to another.

In the neighbourhood of Leicester there are two stones
of this kind which have been the subject of much specula-
tion. The first was situated in the ‘ Johnstone Close,”
about a mile from Leicester, near the Abbey. In 1807 it
stood seven feet above the ground, but in 1874 it was said
to be about two feet. It had been roughly shaped and had
no striations on the surface. It was called the ¢ Little
John's Stone,” or “ St. John’s Stone.” 2

Another stone of local interest, and of which there are

1 Other heights in this district are Beacon Hill, already mentioned, 818
feet ; Brombriggs, 777; Bawdon Castle, 769; Hammercliff, 6go; Tin
Meadows, 680 ; Pelder Tor, 660 ; White Hill, 640 ; Benscliff Wood, 606 ;
Green Hill, 60o; Tor Head, 600; Whittle Hill, 568; Sty Hills, 560.
Most of these are etymologically of Celtic origin.

2 See further for this and the Humberstone stone, post, Vestiges of
Paganism.
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many traditional accounts, the Humber Stone or Holy
Stone, is situated in the parish of Humberstone, on the
farm of Mr. Kirby (in 1874). It still lies in the same
spot, though it has been reduced in size.

Situated about five or six miles from Leicester, to the
N.E, is another stone called “ The Moody Bush Stone.”
It is to be seen in a field on the left side of the ‘“ Ridge
Way,” in Moody Bush Field, New York Farm, near Syston.
It projects four feet above the ground, and is embedded
three or four feet below the surface, and is pentagonal,
tapering gradually to the top. It is sharp, angular, longer
than broad, and has been placed in the ground by human
agency. The longer axis of the pentagon at the top of the
stone points N. and S., the shorter axis E. and W. 1t is
composed of Charnwood volcanic agglomerate.

Mr. J. Plant, F.G.S.;! gives a note upon this stone as
follows :—

¢¢ This monolith, standing in a field on a very ancient road called the ¢ Ridge
Way,’ running S.E. to Tilton-on-the-Hill, is upon an elevation commanding a
view of the surrounding country for many miles on all sides, and may have
served as a post of observation, or for a ‘beacon fire,” or for communication
signals of other beacon fires,” for which evidence exists in this county at
Borough Hill, lying due E. 7 miles. [Comparison may be drawn between
the use suggested for this stone and those of Beacon Hill and the other
eminences referred to anze.]

‘“ The monolith is remarkable for having its longer axis due N.and S.
There is a tradition which says it was called ‘ Mowde Bush Stone,’” and a
former owner of one of the large estates near Mountsorrel held a court at
that place called * Mowde Bush Court,’ and this landowner and his stewards
used to go to ‘ Mowde Bush Hill,” where the stone is, and cut a turf, which
was brought into court. The stone has been in its present position from time
immemorial.

““There is a general tradition also that it was usual for persons from
neighbouring districts to bring a turf and put on it.”

Whether this custom is a survival of a still more ancient
one is not known, but the site and orientation of the stone

point to an earlier usage than tradition assigns to it.
Reference to these monoliths has been made not because

Y Report of the British Association, 1879, 1880, p. 112.
D
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it is suggested that their first ceremonial or other usage—if
such has been the case—was coeval with the earliest man
in Leicestershire, but because they are of stone and relics of
the Ice Age which separates us from the earlier remains of
the Jurassic formations. Between the Jurassic formations
and the Stone Age there is a hiatus in Leicestershire, and
unless some implements to be mentioned hereafter are truly
Palzeolithic, these monoliths, and the rites, &c., connected
therewith, must then be referred either to the late Neolithic
Age (of which we have good local evidence) or, more pro-
bably, to the Bronze Age, in which the palstave, dagger,
and fibula played a part which speaks of a very much more
advanced state of civilisation than we meet with either in
Paleeolithic or Neolithic times. If to the former period,
though this is doubtful, then they are closely followed by
the implements, weapons, ornaments, or utensils of the
newer Stone Age.

We may notice here, in connection with the subject of
Druidic customs in Leicestershire, some remarks made by
Mr. T. L. Walker,! who suggests that Croft Hill corre-
sponded with a Gallic Mesomphalos, of which the following
is a transcript :—

‘ Every early nation appeared to have had its Sacred Hill or Omphalos.
In ancient Gaul there was said to have been a Mesomphalos in the centre of
the country, on the river Legre, or Loire, where the Druids met periodically
for special ceremonies and councils. This Mesomphalos was an isolated hill
in the midst of a plain, and was surrounded by a wall and ditch. The idea of
such a Mesomphalos was said to have been derived from the Druids of Britain.

‘“ Now, as no Druidical temple had yet been described in Britain at all
corresponding with the description of the Gallic Mesomphalos, and as Croft
Hill d#d so far correspond with it, as that it was an isolated hill in the midst of
a plain, nearly in the centre of the country, on the banks of the river Leire

or Soar, and having still traces of a ditch round its base, it seemed quite pos-
sible that this hill might have been the Mesomphalos of the British Druids.”

Nichols, in his Hiustory of Leicestershire?® figures a
flanged bronze celt of early type, found near the Fosse road

v Trans. L<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>